
London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

 

Licensing Sub-Committee 
 

Agenda 
 

Wednesday 17 June 2020  
6.30 pm 

Online - Virtual Meeting 
 

MEMBERSHIP 
 

Administration: Opposition: 

Councillor Natalia Perez 
Councillor Fiona Smith 
 

Councillor Matt Thorley 

 
 
 
 
CONTACT OFFICER: Amrita Gill 

Committee Co-ordinator 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 : 07776 672945 
 E-mail: amrita.gill@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

 
Members of the press and public are welcome to attend at the YouTube link below: 
 
Speaking at Licensing meetings is restricted to those who have submitted a 
representation and registered to speak. 
 
THIS MEETING WILL BE HELD REMOTELY 
 
It will be live streamed via YouTube on: https://youtu.be/9nKZgJIVjeo  
 
 
 

Date Issued: 08 June 2020 
 
 

 
  
 
 
 
 
 

https://youtu.be/9nKZgJIVjeo


London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

Licensing Sub-Committee Agenda 
17 June 2020 

 
 
Item  Pages 

1.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

 

2.   ROLL-CALL AND DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 At the start of the meeting the Chair will carry out a roll-call of 
committee members to confirm attendance. Members will also have an 
opportunity to declare any interests. 
 
If a Councillor has a disclosable pecuniary interest in a particular item, 
whether or not it is entered in the Authority’s register of interests, or 
any other significant interest which they consider should be declared in 
the public interest, they should declare the existence and, unless it is a 
sensitive interest as defined in the Member Code of Conduct, the 
nature of the interest at the commencement of the consideration of that 
item or as soon as it becomes apparent. 
 
At meetings where members of the public are allowed to be in 
attendance and speak, any Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary 
interest or other significant interest may also make representations, 
give evidence or answer questions about the matter. The Councillor 
must then withdraw immediately from the meeting before the matter is 
discussed and any vote taken.  
 
Where Members of the public are not allowed to be in attendance and 
speak, then the Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary interest should 
withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter is under consideration. 
Councillors who have declared other significant interests should also 
withdraw from the meeting if they consider their continued participation 
in the matter would not be reasonable in the circumstances and may 
give rise to a perception of a conflict of interest. 
 
Councillors are not obliged to withdraw from the meeting where a 
dispensation to that effect has been obtained from the Standards 
Committee. 
 

 

3.   AB WINES 218 UXBRIDGE ROAD, LONDON,W12 7JD 
 

3 - 110 



Contents                           Page  

  
1. REVIEW APPLICATION        4 

 
2.  CURRENT LICENCE        5 

 
3. BACKGROUND         5-6  

 
4. CONSULTATION         6  

 
4.1 Relevant Representations       6-7 

 
5.  OTHER INFORMATION        7 

 
5.1 Enforcement History        7 

 

5.2  Temporary Event Notices       7 
 

6. POLICY CONSIDERATIONS       7-8  
 

7. THE REVIEW HEARING        8-9 
 

 
APPENDICES 

  
Review application and supporting documents.…………………………………….10-73  

 
Copy of current licence and premises plan …………………………..………………74-79  

 
Map showing location of Premises and neighbouring  

Licensed Premises and list……………………………………………………………….......80-81  

 
Copy of representation in support of review application from  

Doug Love, LBHF Senior Trading Standards Officer………………..............82-86  
 

Copy of representations in support of the review application  
from local residents…………………………………………………………………………………87-90 

 
Copy of representations  against the review of the premises from local 

residents………………………………………...……………………..............................91 
 

Copy of the previous Police review application and Licensing Committee 
Decision ..…………………….................................................................92-103   

 
Relevant paragraphs of the revised guidance issued by the Secretary of 

State…………………………………………………………………………………………………………104-110 

  

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



1.  REVIEW APPLICATION  

  
On the 30th April 2020, an application for a review of a premises licence 

under section 51 of the Licensing Act 2003 was served by Police 
Constable, Kris Cardwell, on the Licensing Authority. The review 

application is in respect of the premises known as AB Wines, 218 
Uxbridge Road, London,W12 7JD.  At the time the application was 

received, Lexcom Management Services Ltd was the licence holder.  
  

The application for a review of the premises licence was made on the 
grounds of the prevention of crime and disorder and the prevention of 

public nuisance. PC Cardwell called the premises licence into review 
because he is of the opinion that conditions 10 and 11 of the premises 

licence do not sufficiently promote the licensing objectives.  
 

Conditions 10: No single cans of beer or cider over 5.5% ABV shall be 

sold unless it is a brand agreed in writing with the police.   
 

Condition 11: No single cans of beer or cider shall be sold unless they are 
marked with the name of the premises.  

 
The police believe the licensed premises are not operating in a sufficient 

manner to promote the licensing objectives.  The premises are located 
close to the Shepherd’s Green area which has a high rate of anti-social 

behaviour by street drinkers.  The behaviour of the street drinkers has a 
detrimental effect on residents and commuters and can be intimidating.  

 
PC Cardwell also states that the sale of alcohol to a drunk customer at the 

premises was witnessed by PC Warrilow in July 2019.  Subsequent visits 
to the premises by PC Cardwell and PC Stewart established that there 

were breaches to some of the conditions on the premises licence, 

including conditions 10 and 11.  PC Cardwell expresses that the Premises 
Licence holder states that addition of conditions to their premises licence 

will not stop the problem of street drinking.  To this PC Cardwell disagrees 
and is recommending that conditions 10 and 11 be removed and be 

replaced with the following conditions: 
 

1. Strong beer, lager, cider and Stout above 5.5% ABV will not be sold.   
 

2. Alcohol shall not be sold or supplied unless it is paid for before or at the 
time when it is sold or supplied.  

 
A copy of the review application and supporting documentation can be 

seen on pages 10-73 of this report.  
 

 

  

Page 4



2.    CURRENT LICENCE  

  
The premises currently operate under a premises licence which permits 

the following licensable activities:  
 

Sale of alcohol – Off the premises   
Monday  08:00 -23:00  

Tuesday  08:00 -23:00 
Wednesday 08:00 -23:00 

Thursday 08:00 -23:00 
Friday 08:00 -23:00 

Saturday 08:00 -23:00 
Sunday 10:00 -22:30   

 
Non-Standard Timings and Seasonal Variations: 

Alcohol shall not be sold or supplied  except during the following permitted 

  hours 
(a)  Weekdays, other than Christmas Day and Good Friday, 8am to 11pm 

(b)  Sundays, other than Christmas Day, 10am to 10:30pm 
(c)  Christmas Day, 12 noon to 3pm and 7pm to 10:30pm 

(d)  Good Friday, 8am to 10:30pm 
 

Subject to the following exceptions no persons shall, except during the 
  permitted hours listed above, sell or supply alcohol or take alcohol from 

  the premises,  the exceptions are:   
i.    During the first 20 minutes after the above hours the taking of alcohol 

        from the premises, provided it is not taken in an open container. 
ii.   The ordering of alcohol to be consumed off the premises, or the  

        dispatch by the vendor of the alcohol so ordered; 
iii.  The sale of alcohol to a trader or club for the purposes of the trade or 

        club; 

iv.  The sale or supply of alcohol to any canteen or mess, being a canteen 
        in which the sale or supply of alcohol is carried out under the authority 

        of the Secretary of State or an authorised mess of members of her 
                Majesty’s naval, military or air forces.  

 
A copy of the current premises licence can be seen on pages 74-79 of this 

report. 
  

3.    BACKGROUND  
  

Records show that the initial premises licence was granted in respect of 
the premises on the 19th August 2005. At the time, the premises licence 

holders were Mr Dilip Khatri & Jagjivan Master.  
  

 

 

Page 5



On the 8th January 2009, Rajesh Shah acting on behalf of Lexcom 

Management Services Ltd submitted an application to transfer the 
premises licence from Mr Dilip Khatri & Jagjivan Master to Lexcom 

Management Services Ltd and submitted an application to vary the 
Designated Premises Supervisor (DPS) to Rajesh Shah. 

 
On the 6th December 2011 an application was submitted to vary the DPS 

from Rajesh Shah to Nadeem Sultan. 
  

On the 30th October 2014, PC Stuart Ratcliff called the Licence for review 
on the grounds of the prevention of crime and disorder, the protection of 

children from harm, promotion of public safety and the prevention of 
public nuisance. PC Stuart Ratcliff requested that the hours the premises 

are open to the public be changed and that 15 conditions be added to the 
licence.  The Committee added 11 conditions to the Licence.  A copy of the 

Police review and subsequent Committee decision can be seen on pages 

92-103 of the report. 
  

The premises are located on Uxbridge Road and operates as a convenience 
store. A plan of the premises can be seen on page 79 of this report.  

  
The main access to the premises is located on Uxbridge Road. There is a 

mixture of both residential and commercial premises within the area. A 
map showing the location of the premises and neighbouring licensed 

premises can be seen on pages 80-81 of this report.  
  

There are several options for transport away from the area including buses 
and taxis which run from in and around the Uxbridge Road area.  

Shepherds Bush Market tube station is one-minute walk away from the 
premises and White City tube station is five minutes walk away.  

  

4. CONSULTATION  
  

A public notice was displayed by the Council near the premises. A further 
public notice was displayed by the Council at Hammersmith Town Hall. 

Details of the application were also published on the Council’s Web Site 
and also sent to the local Ward Councillors and the Resident Involvement 

Team. 
  

A notice of review was served on the premises licence holder and all the 
statutory responsible authorities as required by regulation.   

  
4.1  Relevant Representations  

 
   The licensing section received a representation in support of the review 

application from Mr Doug Love, Senior Trading Standard Officer. A copy of 

this representation can be seen on pages 82-86 of this report. 

Page 6



   

The licensing section received 5 representations from local residents in 
support of the review. A copy of these representations can be seen on 

pages 87-90 of this report.  
 

The licensing section received 2 representations from local residents  
against the review of the premises  A copy of these representations can 

be seen on page 91 of this report. 
  

5. OTHER INFORMATION   
  

5.1 Enforcement History  
  

 On the 07 February 2020,  Mr Rajesh Shah attended a formal interview in 
accordance with PACE (the Police and Criminal Evidence Act) at the 

Council Offices. The interview was pursued following the seizure of non-

duty paid alcohol from the premises on the 07 November 2019 and in 
relation to an alleged alcohol sale to a drunk male on the 12 November 

2019. Mr Shah denied the alleged offence concerning the sale of alcohol to 
a person who is drunk. As the premises internal CCTV did not coincide with 

the Body Worn Video captured, the Local Authority were unable to 
establish the potential drunk sale and no further action was undertaken.

   
5.2  Temporary Event Notices (“TENs”)   

No TENs have been submitted in respect of this premises in the past 
twelve months. 

  
6. POLICY CONSIDERATIONS  

  
6.1 It is the Council’s duty under the Licensing Act 2003 to determine the 

review with a view to promoting the four licensing objectives; Prevention 

of Crime and Disorder, Public Safety, Prevention of Public Nuisance and 
the Protection of Children from Harm.  

  
6.2 In reaching a decision, the Council must have regard to the Council’s 

adopted   Statement of Licensing Policy (“SLP”) and the guidance issued 
by the Secretary of State under section 182 Licensing Act 2003.  

  
6.3 The revised guidance issued by the Secretary of State under section 182 

of the Licensing Act 2003 (“the Guidance”) contains advice in paragraphs 
11.16 to 11.28 in relation to the review of a premises licence. Paragraphs 

11.16 to 11.28 of the revised Guidance can be seen on pages 62 of this 
report.   

  
6.4 The Council’s own SLP gives guidance concerning the review of a premises 

licence.    

  

Page 7



6.6  Section 21.1 page 36 of the SLP states that the Act describes two “groups” 

that may make representations to applications and may apply for an 
existing premises licence or club premises certificate to be reviewed by the 

Licensing Authority. These groups are Responsible Authorities and “Other 
Persons”.  

  
6.7  Section 21.2 page 36 of the SLP states that “Other Persons” means any 

individual, body or business who is affected by the operation of a licensed 
premises regardless of their geographical location. Although they may be 

in any geographical position, any representation they make must be 
relevant to one or more of the licensing objectives, and must not be 

considered to be frivolous or vexatious in nature. Additionally, any 
application to review a premises licence must not be repetitious.  

  
6.8  Section 21.3 page 37 of the  SLP states that the Licensing Authority will, 

however, look at the geographical location of the author of any 

representation or review application received. Where the author lives or 
works a significant distance from the premises subject of an application or 

review, this Authority will examine the content of the representation 
particularly closely to ensure that it is valid and complies with the 

requirement of the Act.  
  

6.9 Section 21.5 page 37 of the SLP states that at any stage, following the 
grant of a premises licence, a Responsible Authority, such as the police or 

the fire authority, or other persons, may apply for a licence to be reviewed 
because of a matter arising at the premises in connection with any of the 

four Licensing Objectives.  
  

6.10  Section 21.6 page 37 of the SLP states that a licence may be reviewed    
         where it is alleged that the Licensing Objectives are not being promoted     

         and there is evidence to show this. The Licensing Authority will regard  

         applications for the review of any premises licence particularly seriously  
         where they involve evidence of:  

  
• Incidents of disorder;   

• Instances of public nuisance where warnings have been disregarded;   
• Serious risks to public safety which the management is unable or 

unwilling to correct; and  
• Frequently operating outside permitted hours.  

 
  

7. THE REVIEW HEARING   
  

In determining this application, the Committee must have regard to the 
representations and take such of the following steps as it considers 

necessary for the promotion of the licensing objectives. The steps are:  

  

Page 8



(a) Take no further action.  

(b) Modify the conditions of the licence.  
(c) Exclude a licensable activity from the scope of the licence.  

(d) Remove the Designated Premises Supervisor.  
(e) Suspend the licence for a period not exceeding three months.  

(f)  Revoke the licence.  
  

Where the Committee takes a step mentioned in (b) or (c) above, it may 
provide that the modification or exclusion is to have effect for only such 

period (not exceeding three months) as it may specify.  
  

In making its decision, the Committee must act with a view to promoting 
the licensing objectives:  

  
 the prevention of crime and disorder  

 the prevention of public nuisance  

 public safety  
 protection of children from harm  

  
It must also have regard to its own SLP and the Guidance.  

   
If the Committee is minded to amend the licence, conditions may be 

attached to the licence to alleviate the concerns raised through 
representations; nevertheless, this is a matter for the Committee to 

determine in light of the above matters, and any others it considers 
material.  

Page 9



Page 10



Page 11



Page 12



Page 13



Page 14



Page 15



Page 16



Page 17



Page 18



Page 19



Page 20



Page 21



Page 22



Page 23





Page 24



Page 25



Page 26



Page 27



Page 28



Page 29



Page 30



Page 31



Page 32



Page 33



Page 34





Page 35



Page 36



Page 37



Page 38



Page 39



Page 40



Page 41



Page 42



Page 43



Page 44





Page 45



Page 46



Page 47





Page 48



Page 49



Page 50





Page 51





Page 52



Page 53



Page 54



Page 55





Page 56



Page 57



Page 58



Page 59





Page 60





Page 61





Page 62





Page 63



Page 64



Page 65



Page 66



Page 67



Page 68



Page 69



Page 70



Page 71



Page 72



Page 73



 

 
 
 

Page 74



 

Page 75



 

 
Page 76



 

 Page 77



Page 78



 

Page 79



 

P
age 80



REF TRADE AS ADDRESS ACTIVITY Monday 
to 
Sunday 

Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Saturday Sunday 

2007/05010/LAPR Mleczko 
Polish 
Delicatessen 

23 - 25 Uxbridge 
Road 
London 
W12 8LH 

Sale of Alcohol 
Off the 
Premises 

00:00:00 
- 
00:00:00 

              

2012/00743/LAPR Roosters Grill 206 Uxbridge Road 
London 
W12 7JD 

Provision of 
Late Night 
Refreshment 

23:00:00 
- 
02:00:00 

              

2009/00218/LAPR A B Wines 218 Uxbridge Road 
London 
W12 7JD 

Sale of Alcohol 
Off the 
Premises 

  08:00:00 
- 
23:00:00 

08:00:00 
- 
23:00:00 

08:00:00 - 
23:00:00 

08:00:00 
- 
23:00:00 

08:00:00 
- 
23:00:00 

08:00:00 
- 
23:00:00 

10:00:00 
- 
22:30:00 

2006/03773/LAPR Shabab 
Restaurant 

33 Uxbridge Road 
London 
W12 8LH 

Provision of 
Late Night 
Refreshment 

23:00:00 
- 
05:00:00 

              

2019/01824/LAPR Nisa Local 238 - 242 Uxbridge 
Road 
London 
W12 7JD 

Sale of Alcohol 
Off the 
Premises 

00:00:00 
- 
00:00:00 

              

2020/00239/LAPR White Horse 31 Uxbridge Road 
London 
W12 8LH 

Performance 
of Live Music 

20:00:00 
- 
00:00:00 

              

    31 Uxbridge Road 
London 
W12 8LH 

Playing of 
Recorded 
Music 

  10:00:00 
- 
00:00:00 

10:00:00 
- 
00:00:00 

10:00:00 - 
00:00:00 

10:00:00 
- 
00:00:00 

10:00:00 
- 
01:00:00 

10:00:00 
- 
01:00:00 

10:00:00 
- 
00:00:00 

    31 Uxbridge Road 
London 
W12 8LH 

Entertainment 
Similar to 
Music or 
Dance 

20:00:00 
- 
23:00:00 

              

    31 Uxbridge Road 
London 
W12 8LH 

Provision of 
Late Night 
Refreshment 

  23:00:00 
- 
00:00:00 

23:00:00 
- 
00:00:00 

23:00:00 - 
00:00:00 

23:00:00 
- 
00:00:00 

23:00:00 
- 
01:00:00 

23:00:00 
- 
01:00:00 

23:00:00 
- 
00:00:00 

    31 Uxbridge Road 
London 
W12 8LH 

Sale of Alcohol 
On and Off the 
Premises 

  10:00:00 
- 
23:30:00 

10:00:00 
- 
23:30:00 

10:00:00 - 
23:30:00 

10:00:00 
- 
23:30:00 

10:00:00 
- 
00:30:00 

10:00:00 
- 
00:30:00 

10:00:00 
- 
23:30:00 

2019/02029/LAPR Tesco 31A Uxbridge Road 
London 
W12 8LH 

Sale of Alcohol 
Off the 
Premises 

08:00:00 
- 
23:00:00 

              

 

P
age 81



 

 

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

Trading Standards 
Hammersmith Town Hall London, W6 9JU 
 
Tel:   
Email:  
Web:  www.lbhf.gov.uk 
 

 

  
 
 
  
 To:  LBHF Licensing Team 
 
           Date: 29/05/20 
 
           Please ask for:  Doug Love 
 

 
LICENSING ACT 2003: REPRESENTATIONS BY RESPONSIBLE AUTHORITY 

 

AB Wines, 218 Uxbridge Road, W12 7JD 
Trading Standards representation to review application  

 
1. Following the application to review the licence made by the Metropolitan Police, I wish to make the 

following representation to outline Trading Standards’ knowledge of the business and to request 
conditions to be added, if the Licensing Sub-Committee choose to vary the licence. 
 

2. Before I detail Trading Standards’ dealings with the business, I would like to offer the following 
comments on the documents supplied by PC Cardwell.   

 
3. Mr Shah has corresponded with PC Cardwell, on behalf of the Premises Licensee, Lexcom 

Management Services Ltd and AB Wines Ltd, which owns the business trading as AB Wines.  Mr Shah 
is a director of both companies.  He refers to previous dealings with the Police which resulted in 
additional conditions and the business no longer selling very strong ‘white’ ciders.  However, if is clear 
from the evidence provided by the applicant that the business still sells to problem drinkers, including 
those who are drunk at the time. 

 
4. I have no doubt that successfully running an off-licence in the location that AB Wines trade from is a 

very hard task.  I am disappointed, however, that Mr Shah appears more concerned with referring to the 
difficulties caused to his business and the area by external factors – competition, the nearby hostels, the 
fact that the Police have not identified those street drinkers they would like him to ban – than he is with 
offering proactive measures to reduce the problems raised by the Police, with the exception of rising the 
price of strong beers.  The responsibility of promoting the licencing objectives applies to all licensees 
whether they are successful or struggling. 
 

Statement of facts 
 

5. Until November 2019, Trading Standards had no significant cause for concern with regard to the 
business.  Three underage test purchases and one Challenge 25 test purchase had taken place 
between 2014 and 2018 and the purchaser was refused every time. 
 

6. On 07/11/19, a check for illicit alcohol and tobacco was made.  During this check, I identified several 
bottles of spirits which I believed to be illegal to sell as they appeared to bear fake back labels – a 
clear indication that they are non-UK duty paid.  I seized these bottles, taking the following products: 

 
- 10 x 70cl Glens vodka (one of which was returned after further examination) 
- 1 x 1l Glens vodka 
- 6 x 70cl High Commissioner whisky 
- 3 x 1l High Commissioner whisky 
- 8 x 70cl Smirnoff vodka 

 

I have been a lead officer on illicit alcohol for 10 years, often working with HMRC enforcement 
officers on similar inspections, and I have gained a great deal of knowledge during this time.  I am 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 82



    

certain that the 27 bottles that remain seized carry fake back labels and are illegal to sell.  I do not 
believe that any of them are counterfeit products.   
 

7. I also noticed several brands of wine and beer I believed may not have come from a registered 
wholesale – either they were on sale for less than I expected or they were unfamiliar brands.  I did 
not seize these items, as I was not sufficiently confident that they were illegal, but I did ask for 
invoices to be produced for the following items: 

 
- Echo Falls – Soft Red Berries & Plums (2 cases of 6 bottles – the amount in the shop at the 

time of the visit); Fresh Strawberries & Cherries (2 cases) and Zesty Tropical Fruit Flavours 
(3 cases), all on sale at £3.99 / bottle 

- Karpackie (3 trays) on sale at £1.70 per can 
- Kestrel Super (4 trays) on sale at £1.90 
- Skol Super (5 trays) on sale at £1.90 
- Carlsberg Special Brew (3 trays) on sale at £1.90 
- Perla Mocna (7 trays) on sale at £1.50 
- Tennent’s Super (2 trays) on sale at £2.00 
- Oranjeboom 8.5 (3 trays) on sale at £1.60 
- Kastelan (5 trays) – selling price not recorded 
- Namysrow (1 tray) – selling price not recorded 

 
8. No illicit or suspect tobacco products were discovered during the visit. 

 
9. An exchange of e-mails with invoices, attached – reproduced in the Appendix – followed. Mr Shah 

said the following about the spirits:  
 
- the 1 litre bottles may be very old and that it might take too long to find invoices for them;  
- an unknown person dropped a couple of 70cl boxes at the shop, said he would come back 

for payment and staff had started selling the bottles, as the boxes were damaged and one 
bottle had broken;  

- that he had been unaware of this until after they had been seized; 
- that the Echo Falls wine I had queried was on a couple of invoices already provided but that 

the wholesalers may have used different descriptions. 
 

10. The only invoices for the Echo Falls wine that was produced was an invoice from Dhamecha, dated 
20/09/19, where three cases of ‘Echo Falls White’ (confirmed to be alternate description for the 
product I had been asked about) were purchased for £17.49 + VAT per case / £3.50 per bottle – a 
promotional price reduced from the normal £18.99 +VAT (£3.80).  Dhamecha have confirmed in an 
e-mail that no sales were made to AB Wines of Echo Falls Rosé (Fresh Strawberries & Cherries) 
and Echo Falls Red (Soft Red Berries & Plums in the period between 01/05/19 and the day of the 
seizure.  
 

11. Mr Shah was also referred to an invoice from Bestway, dated 07/11/19 – the day of the visit, where 
a case each of Echo Falls, described in the invoice as ‘FRUITS ROSÉ’, ‘FRTS STRW&LIME’ and 
‘FRUITS ROSÉ&GIN’ were purchased at £15.69 + VAT / £3.14.  These have been confirmed to be 
as different products to those one enquired about.  Bestway have confirmed that no sales of any of 
the varieties of Echo Falls seen in the store were made to AB Wines during the six months from the 
start of May 2019 to the day of the visit. 
 

12. Invoices were produces for each of the types of beer, although the prices of the beers were often 
similar to the prices charged in the shop: 

 
- Karpackie and Oranjeboom 8.5 were being sold for the same price as they had been bought 
- There was a 10p per can mark-up on the Perla Mocna and the Kestrel Super and 15p on 

the Skol Super. 
 

13. On 7th February 2020, I interviewed Mr Shah under caution, together with Cristina Perez-Trillo of the 
Licensing Team, who wished to ask him about other matters.  The following is my summary of what 
was said in relation to the Trading Standards matters: 

 

Page 83



    

- RS states that he owns the business through a company called AB Wines Ltd. and that the 
only employee is the DPS, Nadeem Sultan. 

- RS states that he buys all spirits from cash and carry businesses, but that the seized bottles 
were accepted in to the shop by a member of staff, Ravi, while he was on holiday in August 
2019. Ravi had taken a few – six or seven - cases from someone who called at the shop 
who he knew; no payment was made and no paperwork left.  The alcohol remained in the 
shop for a while; then Nadeem made the decision to start selling it, even though RS had 
said he would check it first. 

- A telephone number was provided for Ravi.  No other details were provided.  Apparently, he 
had been taken on as holiday cover and his employment terminated soon after RS returned 
from leave.  He had not been trained and was not intended to go behind the counter, but no 
instruction was given to close the shop when Nadeem was on meal breaks (as he was when 
the caller brought the spirits to the shop) or needed a break.  RS had not attempted to 
contact Ravi to find out more details of the supplier, even after the seizure. 

- RS showed some familiarity with the Alcohol Wholesalers Registration Scheme – which 
makes it illegal for retailers to buy alcohol for resale from anyone other than a registered 
wholealser.   

 

- Regarding the wine, DL requested that RS look again for any invoices that may relate to the 
rosé and red wines he had asked about. 

 
- He confirmed the prices for strong beer had gone up about four months earlier (late 

September), but later said that the prices for Karpackie and Oranjeboom 8.5 (the two 
strongest beers stocked) had not increased.  He says that he may have to review these 
prices when DL observes he appears to be making zero profit on these lines.  He suggests 
that the very low profit margin on strong beers is forced on him by competition and the need 
to keep customers coming to his shop. 

 

14. I have tried on several occasions to contact ‘Ravi’ on the number provided, but the call never seems 
to ring. 

 
 

Summary  
 

15. There are several parts of the available evidence and of Mr Shah’s explanation that cause me 
concern.   
 

16. It is clear that the spirits that remain seized are not legal to sell, and this view is confirmed by the the 
Loch Lomond Group and Diageo, the manufacturers, who have viewed photographs of the back 
labels and/or a sample bottle.  Mr Shah has provided an explanation of how the 70cl bottles (but not 
the 1 litre bottles) came to be in the shop and how much credence the Committee gives this is a 
matter for them.  It seems unlikely to me that anyone leaving several cases of spirits with a retail 
value agreed by Mr Shah in the interview to be at least £400, would not bother to come back 
seeking payment. 

 
17. If the version that Mr Shah offers in regard to the 70cl bottles is accepted, it is the case that the 

alcohol was accepted, without paperwork (in breach of condition 15), into the shop by a person who 
Mr Shah admits he did not train (in breach of condition 16) or for whom he did not have full details.    

  

18. Further, Mr Shah could tell me of no measures to ensure that the shop was shut when Nadeem, his 
only other employee, was on a break.  It was inevitable that ‘Ravi’ would have been left in sole 
charge of the shop on occasions and although I have not explicitly asked Mr Shah, it is unlikely that 
Ravi held a personal licence or had passed the BII Level 1 Award in Responsible Alcohol Retailing 
and that condition 9 was also breached. 

 
19. I am also concerned that in his email of 17th November, Mr Shah says he was unaware of the origin 

of the seized bottles until after the seizure, whereas in the interview under caution he said he was 
aware of them before Nadeem, ignoring his instructions to leave them until he had checked them, 
put them on sale.  Both of these cannot be true, as several of the bottles were seized from the 
display shelves. 

Page 84



    

 
20. If he did know of the origin of the bottles prior to the seizure, he should clearly have taken them out 

of the shop or effectively quarantined them, as he appeared to be aware of the legal requirement to 
only buy spirits from wholesalers registered under the Alochol Wholesalers Registration Scheme.    

 
21. Worse, by failing to prevent the sale of vodka that he must have suspected came from an 

unregistered source, he risked selling counterfeit vodka – it is extremely unlikely that he’d have been 
able to recognise the difference between counterfeit and genuine products.  Given that consuming 
counterfeit vodka can sometimes have grave, or even fatal, consequences, the business may have 
been risking their customers’ health. 

 
22. No invoices that could possibly have related to the rosé or red Echo Falls wines have been supplied 

and the two cash and carry businesses mentioned by Mr Shah have both confirmed that they had 
not supplied the product to AB wines in the six months prior to the seizure.   This, it is suggested, is 
a clear indication that these fast-selling wines were also purchased from an unauthorised source. 

 

23. An explanation for the super strength beers apparently being sold with a zero or very small mark-up 
has been offered: that it necessary because of local competition.  I believe the more likely reason is 
that illicit beer is purchased and mixed with legitimately bought stock, so that it could profitably be 
sold at a low price.  I have no hard evidence of this, but when the business appears to sell a lot of 
super-strength beer with such a small mark-up, and many of the customers buying this type of beer 
can reasonably be assumed to buy few more profitable goods, it seems unlikely that the profit 
margin is as low as Mr Shah suggests. 

 

24. Even if it is believed that all the beers in the shop are bought legitimately, the very low profit margin 
to attract customers and the amount of stock - there were, on the day I visited, 40 x 24 trays of beer 
in excess of 7.5% abv (960 cans) and more strong cider (I did not count the trays of cider, as, being 
low duty, it is not as popular to evade the duty) - suggests that the business relies heavily on the 
sale of super-strength product.  These beers are legal to sell but are particularly popular amongst 
people who abuse alcohol: it is not, in my opinion, responsible for a licensed business focus on 
selling this type of alcohol or to sell it as cheaply as this. 

 

Recommendations 

 
25. The Home Office guidance made under the Licensing Act, section 182 suggests (paras 11.27 & 

11.28) that Committees should seriously consider revocation of the premises licence in the first 
instance when the sale of smuggled alcohol is detected.  Trading Standards urge Members to focus 
on the acknowledged origin of some of the spirits and the likely explanations for the presence of 
certain alcohol and to follow this guidance. 
 

26. Should the Committee not choose to revoke the licence, Trading Standards ask them to consider a 
period of suspension to allow the business time to review their business model, how they operate 
and to improve their procedures – something that Trading Standards could assist with if Mr Shah 
requested us to. 
 

27. The Police application does not focus on the role of the DPS, Nadeem Sultan.  However, he was 
witnessed to be the seller of strong beers and ciders to drunk customers on several occasions and 
he was, according the Mr Shah, the person who made the decision to sell spirits he knew to have 
come from an unregistered source.  Trading Standards ask the Committee to consider whether this 
standard of behaviour is commensurate with the role of Designated Premises Supervisor and, if they 
do not feel it is, to require a DPS transfer if the licence is to continue. 

 
28.  Finally, should the licence continue and notwithstanding the licence holder’s failure to comply with 

existing conditions, Trading Standards request that the Committee consider adding the following: 
 

 The licensee will report to Trading Standards any instance of a caller to the shop attempting to 
sell alcohol or tobacco products within 24 hours. 

 

 No spirits shall be purchased in a resealed box, without thorough checks being made to ensure 
it is legal to sell. 

Page 85



    

 
I believe this representation is consistent with the LBHF Statement of Licensing Policy and the 
promotion of the Licensing Objectives, 
 
 
Doug Love 

Senior Trading Standards Officer 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 86



    

From: Viviana Sarmiento   
Sent: 01 June 2020 15:04 
To: Licensing HF: H&F <licensing@lbhf.gov.uk> 
Subject: Re: PLEASE READ : AB Wines Review 218 Uxbridge Road, London, W12 7JD 
 
Hi Sophia, 
My full address is Frithville Gardens  
W12 7JN 
 
 
Regards 
Viviana 
 
 
 
From: Viviana Sarmiento    
Sent: 20 May 2020 10:26  
To: Licensing HF: H&F <licensing@lbhf.gov.uk>  
Subject: AB Wines Review  
  
Hello, We have been living in Frithville Gardens for 5 years, and there has been a persistent 
problem in our street of people drinking alcohol on our door steps. It's so frustrating because 
this causes lots of noise, rubbish is left behind, not to mention people being sick and feeling 
free to urinate in our front gardens. Re the corner shop - although I totally understand they are 
trying to run a business, it is also the focus of all these drunks gathering and hanging around in 
our street. It feels unsafe sometimes. Frithville Gardens is one of those streets that, I gather, 
produces a considerable income for the council in parking fees and fines and perhaps we 
deserve a bit more of action in terms of keeping the street safe , clean and drunk-free.  
  
Many thanks Viviana   
 
 
 
 
 
 
From: Caroline Sowden  
Sent: 22 May 2020 10:04 
To: Licensing HF: H&F <licensing@lbhf.gov.uk> 
Subject: AB Wines review 
 
To H and F licensing committee, 
 
AB Wines attracts all the down-and-outs from the entire neighbourhood and encourages them 
to hang out on the corner of Frithville Gardens.  
They have turned it and the bus stop into a filthy rubbish dump and toilet. The amount of urine 
has literally stripped the paint off the wall on the side of the estate agents. 
This makes living in this road extremely unpleasant for its hundreds of residents, 
 
Thank you, 
 
Caroline Sowden, 
Brooklyn Court, 
Frithville Gardens 
 

Page 87



    

 
From: Rose Alexander   
Sent: 29 May 2020 16:15 
To: Licensing HF: H&F <licensing@lbhf.gov.uk> 
Cc: Mike Branson   
Subject: AB Wines 
 
Dear LBHF 
 
We oppose any licensing extension to AB Wines. The anti-social behaviour and negative 
effects far outweigh any commercial benefit to the area. There was a terrible problem with 
people urinating near the store and old cans and bottles littered on the street. Last year we 
had an attempted break in to our home where the culprits defecated in our front garden and 
caused a lot of damage. The police suspect it was alcohol and drugs related. As a street we 
are trying to improve the quality of life for all the residents and increasing alcohol availability 
plays no part in this.  Also, having read this book 
https://www.goodreads.com/book/show/49094876-drink I believe that efforts should be made 
at a policy level to encourage greater responsibility around consumption of alcohol. For this 
reason we oppose the AB Wines licence application. 
 
Yours faithfully 
 
Rose Alexander and Mike Branson 
Frithville Gardens 
London W12 7JN 
 
 
 
 
From: c_pluwak < 

Sent: 01 June 2020 11:19 

To: Licensing HF: H&F <licensing@lbhf.gov.uk> 

Subject: Re: PLEASE READ RE: Alcohol licence Application, AB Wines 

 

 

Dear Sophia, thank you for acknowledging my email. 

 

I can confirm my comments are indeed in support of the application made by the Police (PC Cooke).  

 

Yours sincerely,  

 

Christina Zablotska 
 
 
From: c_pluwak  
Sent: 31 May 2020 18:48 
To: Licensing HF: H&F <licensing@lbhf.gov.uk> 
Subject: Alcohol licence Application, AB Wines 
 
For the attention of the licencing team at LBHF, 
 
I am writing to you as a long term resident of Frithville Gardens. I have learned that AB Wines 
on Uxbridge Road is applying to renew its alcohol license. 
 

Page 88

mailto:licensing@lbhf.gov.uk


    

I wish to draw your attention to problems of  certain customers who, after having purchased 
alcohol in the local shops, including AB wines, go on to loiter on the corner of Frithville 
Gardens and Uxbridge Road.   We are  regularly confronted by groups of louts congregating at 
the end of the Gardens, drinking and smoking cannabis, who use the front garden walls to 
urinate against, drop litter and strew empty beer cans and vodka bottles where they see fit.  Its 
a miserable and pathetic sight. 
 
Given the current coronavirus pandemic, I wish to see more efforts by the local authorities to 
curb alcohol and drug related anti social behavior.   I wish to see residents able to walk home 
without intimidation and fear. 
 
In light of the above, I personally oppose to any renewal of an alcohol license for AB Wines.  
 
I trust the above concerns will be acted upon.  
 
Yours sincerely, 
 
 
Christina Zablotska 
   Frithville Gardens 
Shepherds Bush 
London W12 7JN 
 
 
 
From: Julia Pluwak   
Sent: 01 June 2020 13:15 
To: Licensing HF: H&F <licensing@lbhf.gov.uk> 
Subject: Re: PLEASE READ RE: AB wines on Uxbridge Road W12 
 
my address is 
 
   Linden Court 
Frithville Gardens 
W12 7JJ 
 
regards 
 
Julia 
 
________________________________________ 
  
  
From: Julia Pluwak  
Sent: 31 May 2020 17:57 
To: Licensing HF: H&F <licensing@lbhf.gov.uk> 
Subject: AB wines on Uxbridge Road W12 
  
Hi 
  
I live on Frithville Gardens and understand that the licence for AB wines is under review. 
  
I wish to bring to your attention that over the past number of years Frithville Gardens has been 
blighted by small groups of men drinking beer and vodka.  They tend to congregate outside AB 
wines sometimes but mostly they move to the  entrance to Frithville Gardens (corner with 

Page 89



    

Uxbridge Road) and loiter/chat and drink.  These individuals have bought the alcohol from AB 
wines as I have observed this on many occasions and sometimes hold their drink within the 
small black plastic bags AB wines gives out.    If they are drunk and rowdy then it's quite 
intimidating when turning into Frithville Gardens from Uxbridge Road to be confronted by this 
suddenly and this makes you feel uneasy and not safe.  On many occasions I have walked 
past a man urinating against the wall.  In most cases the bottles are discarded in the same 
spot and are left lying on the pavement which is an eyesore. 
  
I have rung ring 101 numerous times and I know the police are trying hard to turn up and move 
them on but I appreciate they might be on more important calls so at times they can't attend so 
the men remain on Frithville Gardens for a long time.  Getting someone arrested for urinating 
is virtually zero as the police told me they have to catch them in the act of urinating to do 
something and as this is impossible the problem of men urinating goes sadly unpunished and 
unresolved. 
  
I hope you can consider the above antisocial issues that are connected to the AB wines selling 
alcohol when reviewing their licence 
  
regards 
Julia Pluwak 
Frithville Gardens resident 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 90



    

From: Claire Tindall   
Sent: 03 June 2020 19:37 
To: Licensing HF: H&F <licensing@lbhf.gov.uk> 
Subject: Re: PLEASE READ: A B Wines 218 Uxbridge Road London W12 7JD 
 
Hello and many thanks for your response. I'm sorry to take so long to get back to you. 
 
I would like to add that AB Wines often have a staff member at the door moving people on if 
they are loitering. I've even seen them ask people nowhere near there shop around the corner 
to keep the noise down which was ahhered to. They also do NOT serve alcohol to people who 
are too intoxicated. I've seen that plenty of times.  
 
I have seen first hand efforts of AB Wines to keep nuisance at bay. Not everybody who loiters 
in the area has bought alcohol from AB Wines. 
 
I hope this is not too late to be used for the hearing. 
 
Kind regards,  
 
Claire Tindall 
 
 
 -----Original Message-----  
From: Claire Tindall   
Sent: 20 May 2020 07:30  
To: Licensing HF: H&F <licensing@lbhf.gov.uk>  
Subject: AB Wines  
  
Hi there  
  
I live on Frithville Gardens and have done for 10 years. All this time I have found AB Wines 
extremely helpful. Nadeem who works there brightens any day and I often frequent the shop 
most days for little basics or tobacco or even just Nadeems smile. I hope that they remain.  
  
Kind regards  
  
Claire Tindall Linden Court,  
Frithville Gardens  
W12 7JJ   
  
  
  
  
From: theresa taylor    
Sent: 21 May 2020 10:50  
To: Licensing HF: H&F <licensing@lbhf.gov.uk>  
Subject: An wines  
  
  
I live in Frithville Gardens, and have used this store for the past 3 yrs, it's a family run business 
(lovely family) and hold to strict keeping the laws selling. never had any problems as I can see 
in the street. 
 
Sent from Yahoo Mail on Android 
 

 
 

Page 91



Page 92



Page 93



Page 94



Page 95



Page 96



Page 97



Page 98



Page 99



Page 100



Decision 
 

Re: Application for a review of a Premises Licence in respect of premises at AB 
Wines, 218 Uxbridge Road, W12 7JD 
 
Introduction 
 
On the 30th October 2014, Police Sergeant Stuart Ratcliffe on behalf of the 
Metropolitan Police (“the Applicant”) made an application for a review of a premises 
licence (“the Application”) for the above property (“the Premises”), under the provisions 
of the Licensing Act 2003. 
 
The Application 
 
The Application requested that the hours for the sale of alcohol be reduced to 1100 – 
2300 hours, Monday to Sunday and that the conditions of the premises licence be 
modified by adding a series of conditions relating to: 
 

• Establishment and maintenance of CCTV system 

• A licence holder required to be on premises while it is open to the public 

• Certain alcoholic drinks to be prohibited from sale with a system of marking 
drinks with the name of the premises to be put in place 

• Maintenance of a refusals book logging refusals to sell alcohol 

• Full training of staff in relation to CCTV and legality and conditions of the sale of 
alcohol 

 
Consultation 
 
No relevant representations were received in connection with the Application.  
 
 
The hearing 
 
The Council convened a licensing Sub-Committee under the Licensing Act 2003 to 
consider the Application.  The Sub-Committee held a hearing on the 14th January 
2015. 
 
Police Sergeant Ratcliffe and Police Officer Michael Payne attended the hearing on 
behalf of the Applicant. DPS Nadeem Sultan attended the hearing. Also in attendance 
was John Payne, solicitor for the premises licence holder. 
 
A summary of the main points of evidence are contained in the minutes of the hearing 
enclosed with this letter. 
 
The Decision 
 
The sub-committee considered the Application. 
 
From the basis of what was reported to it and having regard to the representations 
made and the suggestions offered by the premises licence holder, the Sub-Committee 

Page 101



decided the matter as it considered appropriate for the promotion of the four licensing 
objectives.  In doing so it had regard to all other material considerations including the 
guidance issued by the Secretary of State under s.182 of the Licensing Act 2003 and 
the Council's statement of licensing policy.  
 
The Sub-Committee decided to modify the premises licence by adding the proposed 
conditions agreed upon by the Applicant and the licence holder. 
 
The Sub-Committee considered the evidence put forward by the Police and by the 
premises licence holder and decided that imposing the proposed conditions would be 
an appropriate means of promoting the licensing objectives. It noted that the Applicant 
no longer sought the reduced hours of trading and considered that this was no longer 
appropriate, particularly in view of the agreement between the parties and the absence 
of any other representations.  The additional conditions are set out in the attached 
schedule. 
 
Please note that the decision by the Sub-Committee does not take effect until the end 
of the period given for appealing against the decision i.e. 21 days after deemed service 
of this notification letter. 
 
Rights of appeal 
 
The Applicant and the premises licence holder have the right to appeal against this 
decision to the Magistrates Court.  Details are enclosed. 
 
Yours faithfully 
 
 
Fern Aldous 
For Chairman, Licensing Sub-Committee 

ADDITIONAL CONDITIONS IMPOSED BY THE LICENSING 
SUB-COMMITTEE 

 
Condition 1 : CCTV covering areas inside of the premises shall be installed and 
maintained to a standard agreed with the Police, with properly maintained log 
arrangements.  All images shall be stored, stamped  with the date and time of 
recording, for a minimum period of 31 days from the date that they are recorded. 
 
Condition 2 : (Compliance with Data Protection Act) – CCTV is to be maintained in a 
fully working condition whilst the premises are open to the public. 
 
Condition 3 : A staff member from the premises that is conversant with the operation of 
the CCTV system will be on the premises at all times that the premises are open to the 
public.  This staff member will be trained to be able to show the police recent footage 
with the minimum of delay when requested. 
 
Condition 4 : There will be one personal licence holder or a person with the BII Level 1 
Award in Responsible Alcohol Retailing at the premises whilst the premises are open to 
the public. 
 

Page 102



Condition 5 : No single cans of beer or cider over 5.5% ABV shall be sold unless it is a 
brand agreed in writing with the police.   
 
Condition 6 :  No single cans of beer or cider shall be sold unless they are marked 
with the name of the premises. 
 
Condition 7 :  A refusals book shall be kept at the premises to record details of all 
refusals to sell alcohol.  This book shall contain the date and time of the incident, a 
description of the customer, the name of the staff member who refused the sale and the 
reason that the sale was refused.  This book shall be made available to Police and 
authorised officers of the Council upon request. 
 
Condition 8 : The Designated Premises Supervisor or a named person whose name 
appears in the front of the refusals book shall regularly check the book to ensure that it 
is being consistently used by all staff. 
 
Condition 9: This is now covered by the mandatory condition, so not needed in full.  If 
necessary : “In relation to the Proof of Age Scheme,  the only identification that will be 
accepted is a driving licence with a photographic image of the holder, a passport, pass 
card or other form of identification noted by the licensing authority as acceptable. 
 
Condition 10 :  Full records of alcohol purchases shall be maintained for a period of no 
less than 12 months from the date of purchase and shall be provided to the police or an 
authorised officer of the council within 14 days of a request to do so. 
 
Condition 11 : The Licence Holder shall ensure that all existing staff, new staff, 
supervisors and managers receive an induction in the legality and procedure of alcohol 
sales prior to undertaking any sale of alcohol.  This training will include the contents of 
the premises licence, times of operation, licensable activities and all conditions. Training 
documents shall be signed and dated and made available to a police officer or council 
officer on request. The records shall be retained for at least 18 months. 

 
 

 

Page 103



REVISED GUIDANCE ISSUED UNDER SECTION 182 OF THE LICENSING ACT 
2003 
 

11. Reviews  
The review process  
11.1 The proceedings set out in the 2003 Act for reviewing premises licences and 
club premises certificates represent a key protection for the community where 
problems associated with the licensing objectives occur after the grant or variation of 
a premises licence or club premises certificate.  
 
11.2 At any stage, following the grant of a premises licence or club premises 
certificate, a responsible authority, or any other person, may ask the licensing 
authority to review the licence or certificate because of a matter arising at the 
premises in connection with any of the four licensing objectives.  
 
11.3 An application for review may be made electronically, provided that the 
licensing authority agrees and the applicant submits a subsequent hard copy of the 
application, if the licensing authority requires one. The licensing authority may also 
agree in advance that the application need not be given in hard copy. However, 
these applications are outside the formal electronic application process and may not 
be submitted via GOV.UK or the licensing authority’s electronic facility.  
 
11.4 In addition, the licensing authority must review a licence if the premises to 
which it relates was made the subject of a closure order by the police based on 
nuisance or disorder and the magistrates’ court has sent the authority the relevant 
notice of its determination, or if the police have made an application for summary 
review on the basis that premises are associated with serious crime and/or disorder.  
 
11.5 Any responsible authority under the 2003 Act may apply for a review of a 
premises licence or club premises certificate. Therefore, the relevant licensing 
authority may apply for a review if it is concerned about licensed activities at 
premises and wants to intervene early without waiting for representations from other 
persons. However, it is not expected that licensing authorities should normally act as 
responsible authorities in applying for reviews on behalf of other persons, such as 
local residents or community groups. These individuals or groups are entitled to 
apply for a review for a licence or certificate in their own right if they have grounds to 
do so. It is also reasonable for licensing authorities to expect other responsible 
authorities to intervene where the basis for the intervention falls within the remit of 
that other authority. For example, the police should take appropriate steps where the 
basis for the review is concern about crime and disorder or the sexual exploitation of 
children. Likewise, where there are concerns about noise nuisance, it is reasonable 
to expect the local authority exercising environmental health functions for the area in 
which the premises are situated to make the application for review.  
 
11.6 Where the relevant licensing authority does act as a responsible authority and 
applies for a review, it is important that a separation of responsibilities is still 
achieved in this process to ensure procedural fairness and eliminate conflicts of 
interest. As outlined previously in Chapter 9 of this Guidance, the distinct functions of 
acting as licensing authority and responsible authority should be exercised by 
different officials to ensure a separation of responsibilities. Further information on 

Page 104



how licensing authorities should achieve this separation of responsibilities can be 
found in Chapter 9, paragraphs 9.13 to 9.19 of this Guidance 
 
 
11.7 In every case, any application for a review must relate to particular premises in 
respect of which there is a premises licence or club premises certificate and must be 
relevant to the promotion of one or more of the licensing objectives. Following the 
grant or variation of a licence or certificate, a complaint regarding a general issue in 
the local area relating to the licensing objectives, such as a general (crime and 
disorder) situation in a town centre, should generally not be regarded as a relevant 
representation unless it can be positively tied or linked by a causal connection to 
particular premises, which would allow for a proper review of the licence or 
certificate. For instance, a geographic cluster of complaints, including along transport 
routes related to an individual public house and its closing time, could give grounds 
for a review of an existing licence as well as direct incidents of crime and disorder 
around a particular public house.  
 
11.8 Where a licensing authority receives a geographic cluster of complaints, the 
authority may consider whether these issues are the result of the cumulative impact 
of licensed premises within the area concerned. In such circumstances, the authority 
may also consider whether it would be appropriate to include a special policy relating 
to cumulative impact within its licensing policy statement. Further guidance on 
cumulative impact policies can be found in Chapter 14 of this Guidance.  
 
11.9 Representations must be made in writing and may be amplified at the 
subsequent hearing or may stand in their own right. Additional representations which 
do not amount to an amplification of the original representation may not be made at 
the hearing. Representations may be made electronically, provided the licensing 
authority agrees and the applicant submits a subsequent hard copy, unless the 
licensing authority waives this requirement.  
 
11.10 Where authorised persons and responsible authorities have concerns about 
problems identified at premises, it is good practice for them to give licence holders 
early warning of their concerns and the need for improvement, and where possible 
they should advise the licence or certificate holder of the steps they need to take to 
address those concerns. A failure by the holder to respond to such warnings is 
expected to lead to a decision to apply for a review. Co-operation at a local level in 
promoting the licensing objectives should be encouraged and reviews should not be 
used to undermine this cooperation.  
 
11.11 If the application for a review has been made by a person other than a 
responsible authority (for example, a local resident, residents’ association, local 
business or trade association), before taking action the licensing authority must first 
consider whether the complaint being made is relevant, frivolous, vexatious or 
repetitious. Further guidance on determining whether a representation is frivolous or 
vexatious can be found in Chapter 9 of this Guidance (paragraphs 9.4 to 9.10).  
 
 
 
 

Page 105



Repetitious grounds of review  
 
11.12 A repetitious ground is one that is identical or substantially similar to:  
•  a ground for review specified in an earlier application for review made in relation to 
the same premises licence or certificate which has already been determined; or  
•  representations considered by the licensing authority when the premises licence or 
certificate was granted; or  
•  representations which would have been made when the application for the 
premises licence was first made and which were excluded then by reason of the 
prior issue of a provisional statement; and, in addition to the above grounds, a 
reasonable interval has not elapsed since that earlier review or grant.  
 
11.13 Licensing authorities are expected to be aware of the need to prevent attempts 
to review licences merely as a further means of challenging the grant of the licence 
following the failure of representations to persuade the licensing authority on an 
earlier occasion. It is for licensing authorities themselves to judge what should be 
regarded as a reasonable interval in these circumstances. However, it is 
recommended that more than one review originating from a person other than a 
responsible authority in relation to a particular premises should not be permitted 
within a 12 month period on similar grounds save in compelling circumstances or 
where it arises following a closure order.  
 
11.14 The exclusion of a complaint on the grounds that it is repetitious does not 
apply to responsible authorities which may make more than one application for a 
review of a licence or certificate within a 12 month period.  
 
11.15 When a licensing authority receives an application for a review from a 
responsible authority or any other person, or in accordance with the closure 
procedures described in Part 8 of the 2003 Act (for example, closure orders), it must 
arrange a hearing. The arrangements for the hearing must follow the provisions set 
out in regulations. These regulations are published on the Government’s legislation 
website (www.legislation.gov.uk). It is particularly important that the premises licence 
holder is made fully aware of any representations made in respect of the premises, 
any evidence supporting the representations and that the holder or the holder’s legal 
representative has therefore been able to prepare a response.  
 
Powers of a licensing authority on the determination of a review  
 
11.16 The 2003 Act provides a range of powers for the licensing authority which it 
may exercise on determining a review where it considers them appropriate for the 
promotion of the licensing objectives.  
 
11.17 The licensing authority may decide that the review does not require it to take 
any further steps appropriate to promoting the licensing objectives. In addition, there 
is nothing to prevent a licensing authority issuing an informal warning to the licence 
holder and/or to recommend improvement within a particular period of time. It is 
expected that licensing authorities will regard such informal warnings as an important 
mechanism for ensuring that the licensing objectives are effectively promoted and 
that warnings should be issued in writing to the licence holder.  
 

Page 106



11.18 However, where responsible authorities such as the police or environmental 
health officers have already issued warnings requiring improvement – either orally or 
in writing – that have failed as part of their own stepped approach to address 
concerns, licensing authorities should not merely repeat that approach and should 
take this into account when considering what further action is appropriate. Similarly, 
licensing authorities may take into account any civil immigration penalties which a 
licence holder has been required to pay for employing an illegal worker.   
 
11.19 Where the licensing authority considers that action under its statutory powers 
is appropriate, it may take any of the following steps: 
•  modify the conditions of the premises licence (which includes adding new 
conditions or any alteration or omission of an existing condition), for example, by 
reducing the hours of opening or by requiring door supervisors at particular times; 
 •  exclude a licensable activity from the scope of the licence, for example, to exclude 
the performance of live music or playing of recorded music (where it is not within the 
incidental live and recorded music exemption)10;  
•  remove the designated premises supervisor, for example, because they consider 
that the problems are the result of poor management;  
•  suspend the licence for a period not exceeding three months;  
•  revoke the licence.  
 
11.20 In deciding which of these powers to invoke, it is expected that licensing 
authorities should so far as possible seek to establish the cause or causes of the 
concerns that the representations identify. The remedial action taken should 
generally be directed at these causes and should always be no more than an 
appropriate and proportionate response to address the causes of concern that 
instigated the review.  
 
11.21 For example, licensing authorities should be alive to the possibility that the 
removal and replacement of the designated premises supervisor may be sufficient to 
remedy a problem where the cause of the identified problem directly relates to poor 
management decisions made by that individual.  
 
11.22 Equally, it may emerge that poor management is a direct reflection of poor 
company practice or policy and the mere removal of the designated premises 
supervisor may be an inadequate response to the problems presented. Indeed, 
where subsequent review hearings are generated by representations, it should be 
rare merely to remove a succession of designated premises supervisors as this 
would be a clear indication of deeper problems that impact upon the licensing 
objectives.  
 
11.23 Licensing authorities should also note that modifications of conditions and 
exclusions of licensable activities may be imposed either permanently or for a 
temporary period of up to three months. Temporary changes or suspension of the 
licence for up to three months could impact on the business holding the licence 
financially and would only be expected to be pursued as an appropriate means of 
promoting the licensing objectives or preventing illegal working. So, for instance, a 
licence could be suspended for a weekend as a means of deterring the holder from 
allowing the problems that gave rise to the review to happen again. However, it will 
always be important that any detrimental financial impact that may result from a 

Page 107



licensing authority’s decision is appropriate and proportionate to the promotion of the 
licensing objectives and for the prevention of illegal working in licensed premises. 
But where premises are found to be trading irresponsibly, the licensing authority 
should not hesitate, where appropriate to do so, to take tough action to tackle the 
problems at the premises and, where other measures are deemed insufficient, to 
revoke the licence.    
 
Reviews arising in connection with crime  
11.24 A number of reviews may arise in connection with crime that is not directly 
connected with licensable activities. For example, reviews may arise because of 
drugs problems at the premises, money laundering by criminal gangs, the sale of 
contraband or stolen goods, the sale of firearms, or the sexual exploitation of 
children. Licensing authorities do not have the power to judge the criminality or 
otherwise of any issue. This is a matter for the courts. The licensing authority’s role 
when determining such a review is not therefore to establish the guilt or innocence of 
any individual but to ensure the promotion of the crime prevention objective.   
 
11.25 Reviews are part of the regulatory process introduced by the 2003 Act and 
they are not part of criminal law and procedure. There is, therefore, no reason why 
representations giving rise to a review of a premises licence need be delayed 
pending the outcome of any criminal proceedings. Some reviews will arise after the 
conviction in the criminal courts of certain individuals, but not all. In any case, it is for 
the licensing authority to determine whether the problems associated with the 
alleged crimes are taking place on the premises and affecting the promotion of the 
licensing objectives. Where a review follows a conviction, it would also not be for the 
licensing authority to attempt to go beyond any finding by the courts, which should 
be treated as a matter of undisputed evidence before them.  
 
11.26 Where the licensing authority is conducting a review on the grounds that the 
premises have been used for criminal purposes, its role is solely to determine what 
steps should be taken in connection with the premises licence, for the promotion of 
the crime prevention objective. It is important to recognise that certain criminal 
activity or associated problems may be taking place or have taken place despite the 
best efforts of the licence holder and the staff working at the premises and despite 
full compliance with the conditions attached to the licence. In such circumstances, 
the licensing authority is still empowered to take any appropriate steps to remedy the 
problems. The licensing authority’s duty is to take steps with a view to the promotion 
of the licensing objectives and the prevention of illegal working in the interests of the 
wider community and not those of the individual licence holder.  
 
11.27 There is certain criminal activity that may arise in connection with licensed 
premises which should be treated particularly seriously. These are the use of the 
licensed premises:  
•  for the sale and distribution of drugs controlled under the Misuse of Drugs Act 
1971 and the laundering of the proceeds of drugs crime;  
•  for the sale and distribution of illegal firearms;  
•  for the evasion of copyright in respect of pirated or unlicensed films and music, 
which does considerable damage to the industries affected;  

Page 108



•  for the illegal purchase and consumption of alcohol by minors which impacts on 
the health, educational attainment, employment prospects and propensity for crime 
of young people;  
•  for prostitution or the sale of unlawful pornography; •  by organised groups of 
paedophiles to groom children; •  as the base for the organisation of criminal activity, 
particularly by gangs; 
•  for the organisation of racist activity or the promotion of racist attacks; •  for 
employing a person who is disqualified from that work by reason of their immigration 
status in the UK;  
•  for unlawful gambling; and  
•  for the sale or storage of smuggled tobacco and alcohol.  
 
11.28 It is envisaged that licensing authorities, the police, the Home Office 
(Immigration Enforcement) and other law enforcement agencies, which are 
responsible authorities, will use the review procedures effectively to deter such 
activities and crime. Where reviews arise and the licensing authority determines that 
the crime prevention objective is being undermined through the premises being used 
to further crimes, it is expected that revocation of the licence – even in the first 
instance – should be seriously considered.  
 
Review of a premises licence following closure order or illegal working 
compliance order  
11.29   Licensing authorities are subject to certain timescales, set out in the 
legislation, for the review of a premises licence following a closure order under 
section 80 of the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 or an illegal 
working compliance order under section 38 of and Schedule 6 to the Immigration Act 
2016. The relevant time periods run concurrently and are as follows:  
•  when the licensing authority receives notice that a magistrates’ court has made a 
closure order it has 28 days to determine the licence review – the determination 
must be made before the expiry of the 28th day after the day on which the notice is 
received;  
•  the hearing must be held within ten working days, the first of which is the day after 
the day the notice from the magistrates’ court is received;  
•  notice of the hearing must be given no later than five working days before the first 
hearing day (there must be five clear working days between the giving of the notice 
and the start of the hearing).  
 
Review of a premises licence following persistent sales of alcohol to children  
 
11.29 The Government recognises that the majority of licensed premises operate 
responsibly and undertake due diligence checks on those who appear to be under 
the age of 18 at the point of sale (or 21 and 25 where they operate a Challenge 21 or 
25 scheme). Where these systems are in place, licensing authorities may wish to 
take a proportionate approach in cases where there have been two sales of alcohol 
within very quick succession of one another (e.g., where a new cashier has not 
followed policy and conformed with a store’s age verification procedures). However, 
where persistent sales of alcohol to children have occurred at premises, and it is 
apparent that those managing the premises do not operate a responsible policy or 
have not exercised appropriate due diligence, responsible authorities should 
consider taking steps to ensure that a review of the licence is the norm in these 

Page 109



circumstances. This is particularly the case where there has been a prosecution for 
the offence under section 147A or a closure notice has been given under section 
169A of the 2003 Act. In determining the review, the licensing authority should 
consider revoking the licence if it considers this appropriate. 
 
 
 
 

Page 110


	Agenda
	3 AB Wines 218 Uxbridge Road, London,W12 7JD
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 1b
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3
	Appendix 4
	Appendix 5a
	Appendix 5b
	Appendix 6


